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World War II Highlights (1939-1945)

(Fort McCoy’s glorious history spans from 1909. The World War II era, from 1939-45, was the period of the most-dramatic change in the post’s history. The following provides a summary of the highlights of those years.)

1939  —  Camp McCoy was bursting at its section lines; an additional 9,500 acres were acquired from the Department of Agriculture.  This land acquisition boosted the post’s total acreage to 23,706.

1940  —  A landmark year for the post.  

· From Aug. 10 - Aug. 31, Camp McCoy was the site of the Second Army Maneuvers,  which involved the largest concentration of troops in the Midwest since World War I.  Approximately 65,000 National Guard and active-Army troops from seven states trained in both mechanized and aerial combat.  The maneuver area included 1,000 square miles in four adjoining counties.

· The 50th Signal Corps Battalion held its training at McCoy from the winter of 1940 until the spring of 1941.

· A directive from the Secretary of War begins the process to acquire an additional 37,437 acres of land to expand the post. (Process completed in 1942.)  Total acreage for the post stood at 61,143.

1941  —  Planning for the “New Camp” (the current-day cantonment area) began.  According to the construction engineer, the “triad” layout of design was used primarily to allow troop units to live and train together without being crowded by other units, yet close enough to operate efficiently under one headquarters.

1942  —  Actual construction of the New Camp began in February.  Thousands of workmen flooded the local area to work on the project.  Additionally, the former Civilian Conservation Corps Discharge and Reception Center on “Old Camp,” south of State Highway 21, was converted into a Prisoner of War and Enemy Alien Prison Camp.

· New Camp officially was inaugurated Aug. 30.  Total cost of construction was $30 million, and the camp capacity was set at 35,000.

· The first unit to train on the new terrain and use the new facilities was the 100th Infantry Battalion, which was comprised of Hawaiian National Guardsmen, who were Americans of Japanese ancestry, or Nisei.  The 100th went on to fight with distinction and prove its loyalty to the United States.  More than 1,000 Purple Heart Medals went to members of the battalion.  The entire battalion was awarded the Distinguished Unit Citation, and a 1945 citation reveals that personnel were awarded 44 Silver Star Medals, nine Distinguished Service Crosses and three Legion of Merit Medals.

· The 2nd Infantry Division arrived in November and trained through the fall of 1943.  The division, which went on to invade France, assist in its liberation and later spearhead a drive into Germany, has one of the most spectacular records of any American infantry unit.  The elements of the division that received the Distinguished Unit Citation for service during World War II were the 2nd Engineer Combat Battalion, the 3rd Battalions of the 9th, 23rd and 38th Infantry Regiments, and the 2nd Signal Company. 

· Non-divisional units, including the Army Nurses Corps, trained here for varying periods of time throughout World War II.  Camp McCoy became an induction center for VI Corps nurses, who received their two-week basic training at the station hospital.  The 1,800-bed hospital, also built in 1942, was used to full capacity only during World War II and later, during the Korean Conflict.

1943  —  Members of the Womens Army Corps (WAC) arrived in May and included one officer and 21 enlisted women.  The detachment became a vital part of camp activity, performing duties as clerks, librarians, statisticians, typists, office managers and members of the motor pool.  Outside of their official duties, some of the WACs participated in “It’s The McCoys,” a live show that performed throughout the state, and entertained on numerous radio shows.

· The 76th Infantry Division arrived for training in October, departed the post in November 1944.  The division took over front-line positions Jan. 24, 1945.  The 76th Infantry Division’s 417th Infantry Regiment is credited as being the first unit to cross the Luxembourg-German border to secure a foot-hold on the east bank of the Sauer River in the Echternach region.

· A Limited Service School was established for training physically handicapped soldiers in specialist branches; 1,000 soldiers graduated each week.  The camp also had the largest Army Service Company in the United States, 90 percent of whom were limited service.  The company included quartermaster, signal, ordnance, chemical warfare, engineer and medical sections, which took care of all the camp’s supply requirements.

· An estimated 40,000 troops were stationed here during the peak of training activities.  Additionally, the only chemical mortar proving station in the country was maintained at Camp McCoy for a 14-month period.

1945  —  The camp was designated as a Reception and Separation Center, and 22 buildings were converted to accommodate the new mission.  The center processed and reassigned soldiers from Wisconsin, Minnesota, North and South Dakota, Michigan, and Montana.  The center’s Reception Section handled 5,400 soldiers a week, while the Separation Section handled 800 a week.  When the center closed in 1946, a total of 247,779 soldiers had been processed.
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